#### Case No. 70501

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP, fka COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS, LP, a national association,

Appellant,

vs.

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Jun 20 2017 09:38 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

#### APPEAL

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXI, Clark County The Honorable VALERIE ADAIR, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-684501-C

#### **RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT**

#### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

1. Whether a letter accompanying a check alleged to be in the amount of nine months of budgeted assessments can be considered "conditions upon which the [Bank] had a right to insist" when requires agreement that the amount is acceptable for all purposes.

2. What constitutes the full amount that a first deed of trust holder must pay to release the superpriority portion of a homeowners association lien prior to foreclosure by the homeowners association or the bank.

3. Whether a review in hindsight should be allowed to negate a good faith basis for rejection by a homeowners association of a partial payment.

4. Whether the protections afforded to a bona fide purchaser ("BFP") should be defeated when the BFP did not cause the harm to the bank, who also failed to protect itself.

2

#### **STANDARD FOR GRANTING REVIEW**

This petition is brought pursuant to Nev. R. App. Proc. 40B. Review is warranted for the following reasons:

# (1) The question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance.

This is one of many cases arising out of NRS 116 non-judicial foreclosure sales. Among other issues, this case involves an alleged attempt to pay the superpriority amount by the Bank. What constitutes actual tender, the impact of a good faith rejection of tender, and what is required for a release of the super-priority portion of an association lien are issues of first impression.

# (2) The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals' Order is in conflict with this Court's rulings in Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Ikon Holdings, LLC, 373 P.3d 305 (Nev. 2016) and Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n Ν. v. Y. Cmty. Bancorp, Inc., 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105 (Nev. 2016). In particular, the Court of Appeals misapplied *Ikon* with regard to the calculation of the superpriority amount in the context of an association foreclosure. Additionally, the Court of Appeals overlooked this Court's recognition of the protections afforded to a BFP in Shadow Wood.

#### (3) This case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

The same issues involved herein will assuredly impact resolution in countless cases before the state and federal district courts. Moreover, the protections afforded to a BFP will have a far-reaching impact on all foreclosure sales, beyond the scope of NRS Chapter 116.

#### **RELEVANT BACKGROUND**

The property in this case, 3617 Diamond Spur Avenue ("Property"), was the subject of an NRS Chapter 116 foreclosure. The homeowner fell into arrears on assessments owed to the Sutter Creek Homeowners' Association ("Association"). (2JA\_306.) After issuing a series of notices and recordings, the Association's trustee, Alessi & Koenig ("Alessi" or "Trustee") held a foreclosure sale to recover the delinquent assessments on February 20, 2013. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC ("SFR"), the highest bidder, took title to the Property. (2JA\_312-13.)

The record shows this foreclosure sale was properly noticed and conducted. Consequently, the Association's sale transferred ownership to SFR and extinguished the First Deed of Trust ("FDOT").

The District Court properly rejected the Bank of America, N.A.'s ("BANA" or "Bank") "tender" argument, recognizing that the proffered payment was impermissibly conditional and acceptance of the payment required the Association potentially to waive its rights to its <u>entire</u> lien and to concede an undecided matter.

The District Court properly concluded the Bank's offer did not constitute a valid tender. Moreover, beyond this "One and Done," "non-negotiable" payment offer, the Bank could point to no further action it took to protect its interest or prevent the sale to a BFP. (2JA\_312-13 at 24:19-25:25.) Additionally, the amount to pay off the lien was in dispute and the good faith basis for same was communicated to the Bank.<sup>1</sup> Lastly, even assuming valid tender were made, which there was not, SFR's status as a BFP renders it an inappropriate party from whom to seek relief.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Court of Appeals should have affirmed that the Association was within its rights to reject an offer of payment that included unreasonable demands to which the Bank had no right to insist. However, the Court of Appeals improperly concluded that the condition was one upon which the Bank had a right to insist. This conclusion is incorrect for the following reasons: (1) the Court of Appeals failed to avoid hindsight bias, (2) improperly broadened *Ikon*, (3) ignored this Court's recognition of the protections afforded to BFPs, and (4) inappropriately ignored the Association's good faith basis for rejection. Based thereon, this Court should review the Court of Appeals' Order of Reversal and Remand.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On June 15, 2012, Alessi sent a letter with a ledger to the Bank's representative, Miles, Bauer, Bergstrom & Winters, LLP ("Miles Bauer"), stating the appropriate amount was \$2,930.00. 4JA\_790. In reply, Miles Bauer sent a check for \$720.00 with improper conditions that were "non-negotiable."

#### ARGUMENT

#### I. THE COURT OF APPEALS FAILED TO AVOID HINDSIGHT BIAS

When analyzing past events, it is imperative that they be viewed through the appropriate lens. Specifically, hindsight bias must be avoided, as the parties experiencing the events in real time did not have the benefit of same. Instead, one must examine the events from the same perspective of those involved, noting the information available at the time, as well as the decisions based thereon. This is of particular importance when various actions or inactions surrounding those events must be weighed and balanced. See, e.g., First Nat. Bank of Davis v. Britton, 94 P.2d 896 (Okla. 1939) (concerning good faith basis for rejection). Here, the Court of Appeals improperly broadened the application of *Ikon* and then viewed the alleged tender through faulty hindsight. This resulted in an incorrect balancing, which completely disregarded SFR's BFP status. Thus, the Court of Appeals issued faulty rulings on issues of first impression, which should be reviewed and decided by this Court: (a) what constitutes valid tender and (b) the requirements to obtain a release of the superpriority portion of an association lien – neither of which have been decided by this Court. There are scores of cases involving one or more of these issues.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Exhibit 2, which includes cases SFR is aware of pending before this Court.

#### II. THE COURT OF APPEALS IMPROPERLY BROADENED IKON

In order to reach its conclusion, the Court of Appeals applied Ikon to this matter as if the context was identical. However, this matter is in the context of an association foreclosure sale, not a Bank foreclosure sale. The distinction between these two scenarios was recognized by this Court in *Ikon*<sup>3</sup> and in *Shadow Wood*.<sup>4</sup> By ignoring context, the Court of Appeals effectively concluded that superpriority was expressly limited to an amount equal to nine months of assessments, without considering if the Bank had to pay more to obtain a release of the superpriority portion of the Association's lien. In conjunction with improperly viewing the Bank's tender in hindsight, rather than considering all of the factors present at the time of same, the Court of Appeals gave inappropriate weight to the Bank's purported tender and the conditions it insisted upon. This inappropriate weight wrongly diminished the Association's good faith basis for rejection of the Bank's tender to the point of being wholly ignored by the Court of Appeals.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>See</u> footnote 4, indicating "When an HOA forecloses on a property, the pre-2015 amendments of NRS 116.31164(3)(c) and NRS 116.3116(8) allowed for the recoupment of fees and costs. However, because [the Association] did not foreclose on the property, NRS 116.31164(3)(c) and NRS 116.3116(8) are not implicated in this decision." 373 P.3d at 69 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 366 P.3d at 1113.

#### III. BFP STATUS TRUMPS EQUITABLE CHALLENGES.

This Court recognized the protections afforded to a BFP when it stated,

When sitting in equity, however, courts must consider the entirety of the circumstances that bear upon the equities...This includes considering the status and actions of all parties involved, including whether an innocent party may be harmed by granting the desired relief.

*Shadow Wood*, 366 P.3d at 1114, citing *Smith v. United States*, 373 F.2d 419, 424 (4th Cir. 1966) ("Equitable relief will not be granted to the possible detriment of innocent third parties."); *In re Vlasek*, 325 F.3d 955, 963 (7th Cir. 2003) ("[I]t is an age-old principle that in formulating equitable relief a court must consider the effects of the relief on innocent third parties."); *Riganti v. McElhinney*, 56 Cal. Rptr. 195, 199 (Ct. App. 1967) ("[E]quitable relief should not be granted where it would work a gross injustice upon innocent third parties.")

This Court further exhorted that "[c]onsideration of harm to potentially innocent third parties is especially pertinent here where [the Bank] did not use the legal remedies available to it to prevent the property from being sold to a third party, such as seeking a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction and filing a lis pendens on the property." *Shadow Wood*, 366 P.3d at 1114 fn. 7 citing *Cf. Barkley's Appeal. Bentley's Estate*, 2 Monag. 274, 277 (Pa. 1888) ("in the case before us, we can see no way of giving the petitioner the equitable relief she asks without doing great injustice to other innocent parties who would not have been in a

position to be injured by such a decree as she asks if she had applied for relief at an earlier day.").

In other words, this Court recognized that when a BFP has no notice of a presale dispute, such as an attempted tender, equity cannot be granted to the tendering party, particularly when the tendering party was in a position to seek relief earlier and defeat any BFP status by putting the world on notice of their attempts to pay.

In emphasizing "the legal remedies available to prevent the property from being sold to a third party," this Court placed the burden on the party seeking equitable relief to prevent a potential purchaser from attaining BFP status. If that party's inaction allows a purchaser to become a BFP, then equity cannot be granted to the detriment of the innocent third party. Put another way, BFP status trumps equitable relief.

This seemingly harsh result is reinforced by the fact that not even a due process violation is sufficient to overcome an individual's status as a BFP. *Swartz v. Adams*, 93 Nev. 240, 245–46, 563 P.2d 74, 77 (1977) (finding that where notice of sale was not given to owners, property still could not be returned to owners because property was purchased by a BFP). This Court remanded *Swartz* to allow the owners to seek compensatory relief against the person who initiated the sale rather than harm an innocent third party. *Id.* Therein lies the correct form of relief. The so-called harmed party (Bank) can seek money damages against the party who caused the

harm (Association/Collection Company). But under no set of circumstances can equitable relief, to the detriment of the innocent purchaser, be granted to a party (Bank) who ignored earlier remedies and allowed a BFP to purchase the property.

This Court summed up this idea when it stated

Where the complaining party has access to all the facts surrounding the questioned transaction and merely makes a mistake as to the legal consequences of his act, equity should normally not interfere, especially where the rights of third parties might be prejudiced thereby.

Shadow Wood, 366 P.3d at 1116.

One of the most fundamental principles of law, whether it be civil or criminal, is that only the party that caused or contributed to the harm can be held responsible. If BFP status is treated as a mere consolation, then all sales lack finality and all statutory foreclosures schemes are jeopardized; effectively morphing a non-judicial foreclosure into a judicial foreclosure. *See Moeller v. Lien*, 25 Cal. App. 4th 822, 830, 30 Cal. Rptr. 2d 777, 782 (1994); *Melendrez v. D & I Investment, Inc.*, 26 Cal.Rptr.3d 413, 428 (Cal.Ct.App. 2005)(Creating finality to BFPs 'was to promote certainty in favor of the validity of the private foreclosure sale because it encouraged the public at large to bid on the distressed property...''')(internal citation omitted); *6 Angels, Inc. v. Stuart-Wright Mortgage, Inc.*, 85 Cal. App. 4th 1279, 102 Cal. Rptr. 2d 711 (2011); *McNeill Family Trust v. Centura Bank*, 60 P.3d 1277 (Wyo. 2003);

*In re Suchy*, 786 F.2d 900 (9th Cir. 1985); and Miller & Starr, California Real Property 3d §10:210.

Treating BFP status as a consolation effectively rewards the alleged harmed party for its failure to protect itself. It is a maxim, "he who seeks equity must do equity." No one is entitled to the aid of the court when that aid is only made necessary by that party's own inactions or self-created hardship. This maxim holds true in this case and the Court of Appeals' Order should be reversed.

#### IV. <u>The Bank's Unrecorded, Non-Negotiable</u> Offer does not Constitute Valid Tender.

#### A. Offers to Pay Containing Improper Conditions are not Valid Tender.

Nevada has not defined the term "tender," but other states within the Ninth Circuit have determined that "tender" means the actual unconditional production of money. *See*, *e.g.*, *Bembridge v. Miller*, 385 P.2d 172, 175 (Or. 1963) (tender requires the unconditional offer to pay the full amount of the debt and actual presentment of money); *Equitable Life Assur. Soc. of United States v. Boothe*, 86 P.2d 960, 962 (Or. 1939) (tender means "an unconditional offer of payment, consisting in the actual production, in current coin of realm, of a sum not less than the amount due."). Courts have elaborated that a tender must be "an offer of payment with no conditions *or only with conditions upon which the tendering party has a right to insist.*" *Fresk v. Kraemer*, 377 Or. 513, 522, 99 P.3d 282, 287 (2004) (emphasis added).

Any analysis related to the Bank's purported tender must avoid hindsight bias, as the relevant weight must be determined as if done so concurrently with the actions and/or inactions of the parties involved. Here, the Bank conditioned its proposed payment through a letter from Bank representative Miles Bauer as follows:

This is a non-negotiable amount and any endorsement of said cashier's check on your part, whether express or implied, will be strictly construed as an unconditional acceptance on your part of the facts stated herein and express agreement that BANA's financial obligations toward the HOA in regards to the real property located at 3617 Diamond Spur Avenue have now been "paid in full."

(2JA\_412.) The check also included language that could be construed to mean it was meant to pay the entirety of the Association's lien: "To Cure HOA Deficiency." (1JA\_101.) The Bank did not have a right to insist that the Association accept a partial payment as payment in full. In fact, "[w]here a larger sum than that tendered is in good faith claimed to be due, **the tender is ineffectual as such if its acceptance involves the admission that no more is due**." *Britton*, 94 P.2d at 898 (emphasis added). Further, the restrictive language accompanying the payment attempt stated that acceptance of the check would force the Association to accept all of the facts and arguments posited by the Bank in its letter, and the Bank would never again have to pay the Association. (2JA\_411-12.) In other words, "One and Done," whether there were delinquencies in the future or even if the Bank were to purchase the property at its own sale; something expressly rejected by this Court in *Shadow Wood*.

Furthermore, tender by a junior lien interest holder is only effective in redeeming that holder's interest when it is both "unconditional" and, if rejected, the tender is "kept good." Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 6.4, cmt. g (the "Restatement"). The Restatement contemplates that, after rejection by a senior interest holder, the junior interest holder deposits the funds into an escrow account and advises senior interest holder that the funds are being held for payment. *Id.* Alternatively, "segregation of the funds is not essential if [junior interest holder] can show that he or she continues to be ready, willing and able to pay." *Id.* <u>Here, the Bank did nothing after its check was rejected. The Bank provided no evidence that it communicated to the Association that its offer to pay was kept open.</u>

The district court properly found that the offer to pay "was conditional, requiring the Association to waive its rights as to a currently undecided matter – namely, what amounts are included in a super-priority lien pursuant to NRS 116 – this payment attempt did not constitute a sufficient tender to protect BANA's interest in the Property." (4JA\_794.) However, the Court of Appeals improperly concluded that this condition was one upon which the Bank had a right to insist. Again, this conclusion is incorrect due the failure to avoid hindsight bias, the improper broadening of *Ikon*, which inappropriately diminished the Association's good faith basis for rejection and resulted in a failure to recognize the protections afforded to BFPs.

#### B. <u>Changes in Lien Priority Must be Recorded Under NRS Chapter 111.</u>

Under Nevada law, every interest in property must be recorded. NRS 111.315 states in relevant part, "...every instrument of writing...whereby any real property may be affected...shall be recorded." NRS 111.325 further provides that failure to record such conveyance "shall be void as against any subsequent purchaser, in good faith and for valuable consideration..." NRS 111.001 broadly defines "conveyance" as "every instrument in writing, ..., whatever may be its form, and by whatever name it may be known in law, by which any...interest in lands is created, alienated, assigned or surrendered." (emphasis added) There can be no doubt that a payment, which discharges the super-priority portion of the Association's lien, constitutes an instrument or conveyance that affects the property. See, Restatement (Third) of Property: Mortgages § 6.4 cmt. (g) at pg. 431; see also Black's Law Dictionary 971 (7th ed. 1999) (defining "release" as: "5. The act of conveying an estate... 6. A deed or document effecting a conveyance....") The Bank's failure to record its attempted payment invalidates the attempt as against SFR. The District Court properly weighed this factor and the Court of Appeals ignored it.

#### C. Changes in Lien Priority Must be Recorded Under NRS 106.220.

Because any purported payment of the super-priority portion of the lien changes the priority of the Association's lien versus the FDOT, it is required to be recorded. NRS 106.220 states in relevant part, "[a]ny instrument by which any...lien upon...real property is subordinated or waived as to priority, must...be recorded..." NRS 106.220 further states, "[t]he instrument is not enforceable... unless it is recorded." Here, the Bank argued that its attempted payment cured the superpriority portion of the Association's lien. Accepting, for the sake of argument, this is true, then under NRS 106.220, this payment would be an interest in property that subordinated the Association's lien, and therefore Nevada law required the Bank to record it. Failure to record makes it unenforceable against third parties like SFR.

It is undisputed that the Bank failed to record any document indicating its attempted payment. (4JA\_791). As such, this payment, even if valid, is unenforceable against SFR. Put another way, SFR, as a matter of law, did not take the Property subject to the FDOT. The District Court properly weighed this factor and the Court of Appeals ignored it.

## D. <u>Even if the Tender is Valid, the Association Rejected the Offer in</u> <u>Good Faith.</u>

As discussed above, it is imperative that any analysis be done in a manner that avoids hindsight bias. Here, the Bank's purported tender came with unjustified conditions that extended beyond the superpriority amount, potentially affecting the entire lien and the Association's ability to collect it. However, assuming *arguendo*, the amount was appropriate and that the Court of Appeals' hindsight application of a broadened *Ikon* were accurate, even "an actual tender of the proper amount due

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