#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., SUCCESSOR BY MERGER TO BAC HOME LOANS SERVICING. LP FKA COUNTRYWIDE HOME LOANS SERVICING, LP, a National Association.

Electronically Filed Oct 12 2017 04:05 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

VS.

Case No. 70501

SFR INVESTMENTS POOL 1, LLC, a Nevada Limited Liability Company,

Respondent.

#### APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Department XXI The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge District Court Case No. A-13-684501-C

#### APPELLANT'S ANSWER TO RESPONDENT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

DARREN T. BRENNER, ESO. Nevada Bar No. 8386 THERA A. COOPER, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 13468

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard Of Review

A petition for review must "state the question(s) presented for review and the reason(s) review is warranted." NRAP 40B(a). This Court considers, among other things,

- (1) Whether the question presented is one of first impression of general statewide significance;
- (2) Whether the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with a prior decision of the Court of Appeals, the Supreme Court, or the United States Supreme Court; or
- (3) Whether the case involves fundamental issues of statewide public importance.

NRAP 40B(a).

BANA's check. Therefore, if this Court does grant review, it should modify the holding to order judgment in BANA's favor.

### II. The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Ikon Holdings.

Under the guise of critiquing the Court of Appeals' application of Horizons at Seven Hills Homeowners Ass'n v. Ikon Holdings, LLC, 373 P.3d 66 (Nev. 2016), SFR makes the puzzling assertion that to tender the superpriority portion of an HOA lien, a lender must also pay costs and fees from the subpriority portion. SFR criticizes the Court of Appeals for not "considering if the Bank had to pay more [than the superpriority amount] to obtain a release of the superpriority portion of the Association's lien." Petition at 7. However, this Court has already stated that paying off **exactly** the superpriority amount will preserve the priority of a deed of trust. See SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Bank of America, N.A., 334 P.3d 408, 414 (Nev. 2014) ("[A]s junior lienholder, [the holder of the first deed of trust] could have paid off the [HOA] lien to avert loss of its security[.]") (emphasis added); id. at 413 ("As a practical matter, secured lenders will most likely pay the [9] months' assessments demanded by the association rather than having the association **foreclose on the unit.**"). SFR provides no authority that a lender has to pay **more** than the superpriority amount.

In reality, SFR is making a backdoor attempt to modify the statutory composition of the superpriority portion. There is no functional difference between the pre-*Ikon Holdings* argument made by investors (including SFR) that collection costs and fees must be paid because they have superpriority and SFR's post-*Ikon* 

Holdings argument that they must be paid along with the superpriority amount for some unexplained reason. SFR provides no examples where in order to have a lienholder release the lien, a payor is also required to tender additional money beyond the lien.

SFR ignores *Ikon Holdings* to make the unsustainable argument that the amount required to pay off an HOA's superpriority lien under the pre-amendment version of NRS 116.3116 varies based on the timing of the HOA's and lender's foreclosures. SFR asserts (without any authority) that the holder of a deed of trust must pay an HOA's collection costs and fees to tender the superpriority portion if the HOA attempts to foreclose first, but not when the holder first forecloses on the deed of trust. SFR describes a footnote in *Ikon Holdings* as recognizing a "distinction between these two scenarios." Petition at 7.

However, SFR misread Ikon Holdings. In fact, that footnote states,

When an HOA forecloses on a property, the pre–2015 amendments of NRS 116.31164(3)(c) and NRS 116.3116(8) allowed for the recoupment of fees and costs. However, because [theHOA] did not foreclose on the property, NRS 116.31164(3)(c) and NRS 116.3116(8) are not implicated in this decision.

*Ikon Holdings*, 373 P.3d at 69 n.4. This merely explains why two statutory provisions addressing fees and collection costs when an HOA forecloses did not apply to the case at hand. This Court did not draw any distinction regarding the amount required to preserve the priority of a deed of trust. Furthermore, that footnote

actually undermines SFR's argument, because it illustrates how the Legislature enacted rules to allow HOAs to receive collection costs and fees without extinguishing deeds of trust. *See id*.

SFR's argument that BANA had to pay more than the superpriority amount to tender that portion of the lien does not merit review.<sup>2</sup>

#### III. The Record Demonstrates BANA Tendered The Superpriority Amount.

SFR persistently asserts that BANA only made an "offer" to pay the superpriority amount. That is false. BANA sent a check to the HOA Trustee. The accompanying letter explained that the check covered the nine months of assessments that constituted the superpriority portion of the lien. The district court adopted SFR's argument that the language in the letter rendered the payment "conditional" and therefore not effective tender. (4JA\_794). The Court of Appeals disagreed.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> SFR also describes *Shadow Wood* as distinguishing between foreclosures by a deed of trust holder and by an HOA, but that case concerned "fees and costs incurred after NYCB became the owner of the property." 366 P.3d at 1113. This was confirmed in *Ikon Holdings*: "in *Shadow Wood*, the HOA was entitled to recover the superpriority lien amounts accrued for nine months prior to the bank's foreclosure, and **it was entitled to assessments, fees, and costs accrued after the bank purchased the property**." *Ikon Holdings*, 373 P.3d at 72 (emphasis added)

The Court of Appeals remanded the case solely for determination on whether the amount of the check equaled nine months of assessments. If this Court does grant review, it should modify the holding to order judgment in BANA's favor. The record contains a complete ledger sent by the HOA Trustee detailing each month's assessment: \$75.00 per month through January 1, 2012 and \$80.00 per month after. (1JA\_199-204). BANA sent \$720.00, which covered nine \$80.00 assessments. (1JA\_206-208). The ledger did not indicate nuisance or abatement charges, which would also qualify for statutory superpriority (1JA\_200), and these charges have never been alleged. Therefore, the record leaves no doubt that the funds were sufficient; no further fact-finding is required.

Regardless, however, SFR fails to provide a basis for disturbing the Court of Appeals' holding on tender.

A. The HOA Trustee rejected BANA's tender because it was unwilling to accept a superpriority payoff, not on the basis of any of the objections asserted by SFR.

In the petition, SFR asserts that "conditional" language in the letter accompanying the check motivated the HOA Trustee's rejection of BANA's tender. *See* Petition at 15. However, there is no evidence that the HOA Trustee actually made such an objection when it rejected the check. The record not only fails to support SFR's argument, it actually **contradicts** it. The record contains a letter from the HOA Trustee after BANA offered to pay the superpriority amount but before

BANA sent its check, which demanded that BANA send \$2,930.00—the entire lien, both subpriority and superpriority—to avoid foreclosure. (1JA\_199). Nothing in the record indicates that the HOA Trustee rejected the payment for any other reason (including SFR's speculative "conditional language" objection). Therefore, without contrary evidence, the only reasonable inference is that the HOA rejected the check solely because it did not cover the subpriority portion of the lien.

Any assertion that the HOA Trustee refused the check because of language in the letter is entirely speculative. The record, as noted above, establishes that the HOA Trustee would not accept any superpriority payoff; even though BANA's counsel explained the superpriority statute, the HOA Trustee demanded BANA pay the entire lien. (1JA\_199). SFR had the opportunity to depose the HOA Trustee and ask whether it rejected the check because of the letter, but never did so. Instead, SFR asserted this at summary judgment without evidentiary support. See (2JA\_340-41; 3JA\_678-679). As the movant, it was SFR's burden to demonstrate the absence of material facts. Upon summary judgment, "any reasonable inference" from the evidence had to be drawn in favor of the nonmovant (i.e., BANA). Wood v. Safeway, *Inc.*, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (Nev. 2005). Summary judgment is the time "to put up or shut up," and "unsupported allegations do not create a material issue of fact." Weinstock v. Columbia Univ., 224 F.3d 33, 41 (2d Cir. 2000). SFR cannot be entitled

to summary judgment due to these unsupported allegations, particularly where it passed up its chance to develop the record on this issue.<sup>3</sup>

Furthermore, SFR is barred from asserting an objection that the HOA (or its agent, the HOA Trustee) failed to make when it rejected the tender. "A person to whom a tender is made must, at the time, specify the objections to it, or they are waived." First Sec. Bank of Utah, N.A. v. Maxwell, 659 P.2d 1078, 1081 (Utah 1983); accord Lee v. Peters, 250 S.W.3d 783, 787 (Mo. Ct. App. 2008) ("An objection to a tender, to be available to a creditor, must be timely made, and the grounds of the objection specified, otherwise it is waived."); Blackford v. Judith Basin Cty., 98 P.2d 872, 876 (Mont. 1940) ("objections to a tender are waived unless specified at the time"); see also Sellwood v. Equitable Life Ins. Co. of Iowa, 42 N.W.2d 346, 353 (Minn. 1950) ("[T]he grounds of objection to a tender must be specified by the creditor"); Lichty v. Whitney, 182 P.2d 582, 585 (Cal. App. 1947) ("As defendants here made no objection to the form of the tender, any objection to it on that ground was waived.").

Because the HOA Trustee did not reject BANA's tender on any of the grounds argued by SFR, these objections were waived. SFR cannot argue that BANA's

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ironically, SFR's petition criticizes the Court of Appeals for "hindsight bias," when **SFR** invents defenses for the HOA's rejection that the HOA never articulated.

tender was properly rejected because of objections that the HOA never actually made.

## B. BANA was entitled to include the language in the letter.

1. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the tender was not impermissibly conditional.

The crux of the Court of Appeals' ruling was its rejection of the district court's holding that BANA's tender failed because it was "conditional." The Court of Appeals wrote,

to the extent it was conditional, Bank of America had a right to insist on the given condition. Bank of America's tender indicated that it represented nine months' worth of HOA assessments and that the HOA's acceptance of the tender would act as a complete resolution of the HOA's superpriority lien. And the supreme court has confirmed that the pre-2015 version of NRS 116.3116 limited the HOA's superpriority lien amount to the amount which Bank of America offered: "an amount equal to the common expense assessments due during the nine months before foreclosure." Thus, Bank of America had a right to insist that acceptance of the nine months' worth of HOA assessments would result in the satisfaction of the HOA's superpriority lien as that condition comported with the law.

2017 WL 2445278 at \*2 (internal citations omitted).4

9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> To the extent that SFR believes that the party paying off a statutorily fixed lien cannot require the recipient to acknowledge the lien's satisfaction, that position is a nonstarter. Tender does not become ineffective merely because it requires a release from further liability on the recipient's claim. *See Fresk v. Kraemer*, 99 P.3d 282, 287 (Or. 2004) (under a statute precluding an attorney's fee award to a party to whom full damages were tendered prior to litigation, tender was not invalidated by conditioning payment upon a release of liability).

SFR's petition suggests this Court should adopt the district court's holding that BANA's payment was conditional because it "requir[ed] the Association to waive its rights as to a currently undecided matter—namely, what amounts are included in a super-priority lien pursuant to NRS 116." *See* Petition at 13. However, *Ikon Holdings* confirmed that the superpriority composition was "equal to the common expense assessments due during the nine months before foreclosure." 373 P.3d at 66. SFR is wrong to call reliance on *Ikon Holdings* "hindsight bias," because, as the Court of Appeals noted, *Ikon Holdings* interpreted a preexisting statute. *See* 2017 WL 2445278 at \*2 n.4.

A court's interpretation of a statute "is explaining its understanding of what the statute has meant continuously **since the date when it became law**." *Rivers v*. *Roadway Express, Inc.*, 411 U.S. 298, 313 n.12 (1994) (emphasis added). Therefore, it is not true that the superpriority lien composition was undecided before *Ikon Holdings*; its composition was decided once NRS 116 became law.<sup>5</sup>

Finally, SFR's complaints about "hindsight bias" smack of irony. As this Court is well aware, in *SFR Investments*, 334 P.3d 408, SFR prevailed on its argument that it held an interest in property free and clear of a deed of trust as a

before the HOA sold its interest in the Property to SFR. See (1JA\_216).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Furthermore, the Nevada Real Estate Division of the Department of Business and Industry (NRED), the agency charged with administering NRS 116, released its opinion confirming the correct superpriority composition in December 2012. *See* 13–01 Op. Dep't of Bus. & Indus., Real Estate Div. 18 (2012). This was two months

result of an HOA's nonjudicial foreclosure by a 4-3 margin. As a result, lenders have had to face the consequences of any pre-September 2014 decisions made based on the incorrect interpretation of the statute. But now SFR asks this Court to refrain from applying *Ikon Holdings* because of the HOA Trustee's erroneous understanding of the superpriority composition, an understanding that this Court **unanimously** rejected in *Ikon Holdings*. SFR cannot have it both ways.

2. SFR's interpretations of the letter accompanying the tender are patently unreasonable.

Perhaps because there is no plausible objection to BANA's actual letter, SFR mischaracterizes the letter to gin up reasons why the HOA Trustee would have been justified in rejecting payment. For instance, SFR claims that BANA's payment "could be construed to mean it was meant to pay the entirety of the Association's lien" and suggests BANA was "insist[ing] that the Association accept a partial payment as payment in full." Petition at 12. Leaving aside that (1) SFR failed to identify any evidence that the HOA actually had such concerns, and (2) any objections to the tender on those grounds have been waived, SFR's argument fails on the text of the letter.

SFR points to the letter's statement that "BANA's financial obligations towards the HOA in regard to the [Property] have now been 'paid in full.'" (2JA\_412). However, SFR conveniently ignores the two immediately preceding sentences, which stated,

Our client has authorized us to make payment to you in the amount of \$720.00 to satisfy its obligations to the HOA as a holder of the first deed of trust against the property. Thus, enclosed you will find a cashier's check made out to Alessi & Koenig in the amount of \$720.00, which represents the maximum nine months worth of assessments recoverable by an HOA.

(1JA\_207) (emphasis added). The letter refers three times to "nine months of assessments," states that BANA is paying obligations "as a holder of the first deed of trust," and distinguishes between the superpriority and "junior" (*i.e.* subpriority) portions of the lien. (1JA\_206-207). No reasonable reading could conclude that BANA was claiming to pay more than nine months of assessments.

SFR advances another outlandish interpretation of the letter as requiring the HOA to agree that "the Bank would never again have to pay the Association" even if "there were delinquencies in the future or even if the Bank were to purchase the property at its own sale." Petition at 12. This interpretation is also untenable in light of the letter's statements that the tender satisfied "[BANA's] obligations to the HOA as a holder of the first deed of trust" and "represents the maximum nine months worth of assessments recoverable by an HOA." (1JA\_206-207). The claim that the letter required the HOA to disclaim future, hypothetical assessments is baseless.

It bears repeating that the HOA Trustee did not reject BANA's payment on the basis of any of SFR's proffered arguments: it rejected the tender because it demanded a payoff of the full lien, not just the superpriority portion. However, even if the HOA Trustee **had** made such an objection, such an objection would have no plausible basis in the actual language of the letter.

# C. BANA was not required to "keep the tender good" after the HOA Trustee rejected it.

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